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I. INTRODUCTION, PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND, AND SUMMARY OF
ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, move that this case,

brought in three counts, be certified as a class action under Rule 23(b)(I), (b)(2) and (b)(3) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Plaintiffs seek certification of classes to include all current

and former participants in the Duke cash balance pension plan, with exclusions of certain

categories of participants to whom the counts are not applicable.

Plaintiffs are current and former employees of defendant Duke Energy Corporation

("Duke"), a North Carolina corporation. Defendant Duke Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan

is an entity created by Duke Energy Corporation.

The original Complaint, asserting six counts, was filed on February 6, 2006. [Docket

#1]. Plaintiffs moved to certify a class on April 27, 2006 [Docket # 33]. Defendants, Duke

Energy Corporation and Duke Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan [hereinafter collectively

referenced as "Duke," unless otherwise specified] filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings

on May 23, 2007 [Docket #83]. On June 2, 2008, the Court issued an Order which, inter alia,

granted certain portions of Defendants' motions for judgment on the pleadings and for summary

judgment, denying others, and permitting amendment of the complaint [Docket #195]. That

order also directed plaintiffs to refile their motion to certify with regard to the surviving claims.

Id.

Plaintiffs' current complaint asserts the surviving three claims, which correlate to Counts

III, IV and VI of the original complaint. In Count III, Plaintiffs allege that Duke violated the

stated terms of the cash balance plan by applying incorrect, interest rates in determining interest

credits to participants' accounts during the eight consecutive quarters that make up the years

1997 and 1998. In Count IV, Plaintiff contend that Duke has failed, throughout the existence of
I
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the cash balance plan, to perform ERISA-mandated whipsaw calculations for retiring plan

participants who elected a lump sum payment instead of a monthly annuity. In Count VI,

Plaintiffs allege that when Duke converted its pension plan to a "cash balance" plan on January

I, 1997, it violated ERISA and the terms of the Plan in several respects that constitute breaches

of Duke's fiduciary duty under that statutory scheme. 1

This case rests upon facts regarding Duke's course of conduct which, if proven,

demonstrate clear violations of provisions of ERISA and the terms of its retirement plan. The

common issues which predominate, distilled to their essence, are: (l) whether Duke correctly,

fairly and effectively converted its pension plan to a cash balance retirement plan on January I,

1997, through its December 23, 1996 plan amendment and properly determined opening cash

balance amounts for the plan's participants in accordance with fiduciary communications it made

to participants; and (2) whether Duke thereafter violated the terms of that plan with regard to

interest accruals and the calculation oflump sum payments.

Courts have routinely certified class actions in other cases involving ERISA in general

and cash balance plans in particular. E.g., Amara v. Cigna Corp., No.3:0ICV2361(MRK), 2008

WL 2403772, *3 (D.Conn. June 13,2008) Richards v. FleetBoston Financial Corp., 235 F.RD.

165 and 238 F.RD. 345 (D.Coun. 2006); Berger v. Xerox Corp. Retirement Income Guarantee

Plan, 338 F.3d 755, 763-64 (7th Cir. 2003); Kolar v. Rite Aid Corp., 2003 WL 1257272, at *3

(E.D. Pa. 2003); Banyai v. Mazur, 205 F.RD. 160, 165 (S.D.N.Y. 2002) ("[c]lass actions are

generally well-suited to litigation brought pursuant to ERISA."); Esden v. Bank ofBoston, 229

F.3d 154, 177 (2d Cir. 2000); In re Williams Companies ERISA Litig., 231 F.R.D. 416, 424-25

(N.D. Okla. 2005); In re Global Crossing Securities & ERISA Litig., 225 F.RD. 436, 452-53

1 These three claims will be referred to respectively as (l) the interest rate claim (2) the
whipsaw clam and (3) the fiduciary duty claim.

2
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(S.D.N.Y. 2004); In re Citigroup Pension Plan ERISA Litigation, No. 05 Civ. 5296(SAS), 2006

WL 3770504 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 19,2006). See Ex. A, which collects the unreported decisions

cited herein.

Analysis of the plan converSIOn claim, including communications regarding the

conversion, rests not upon facts specific to any individual employee, but rather upon a pattern of

conduct, and upon the common facts relating to Duke's involvement, direction, control,

participation, knowledge, authorization, and ratification of management personnel acts and,

particularly, the decision to convert its pension plan, the manner of conversion, and the structure

of the cash benefit plan. Similarly, determination of the claims related to failure to follow plan

provisions does not rest upon facts specific to any individual employee (other than simply to

determine whether that employee is a class member), but rather upon a pattern of conduct, and

upon the common facts relating to Duke's involvement, direction, control, participation,

knowledge, authorization, and ratification of management personnel acts and, particularly, the

decision to apply improper interest accrual rates across the board, and the failure to perform

whipsaw calculations on each and every plan participant who has elected a lump sum payment,

with the clear intent to continue doing so with regard to all employees who elect lump sum

payment in the future.

Class treatment is superior to alternative methods available to resolve this litigation.

Given that adjudication of the facts concerning Duke's conversion from a pension plan to a cash

balance pension plan, and its compliance or noncompliance with interest accrual and lump sum

payment calculation requirement, will dispose of all of the classes' ERISA claims, any approach

other than a class action invites inconsistent and potentially inequitable results, and years of

costly, duplicative proceedings. Accordingly, the plaintiffs seek certification of plaintiff classes

3
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pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 with regard to each of their claims against

defendants Duke Energy Retirement Cash Balance Plan and Duke Energy Corporation.

II. ARGUMENT

A. The Proposed Classes

As set forth in the Complaint, there are three proposed classes, each of which is a subset

of the universe of present and/or former employees who are or were participants in the Duke

retirement plan since the conversion to a cash balance plan on January 1,1997:

(1) Interest Rate Class - All present and/or former employees of Duke who were
participants in Duke's Cash Balance Plan at any time between January 1, 1997
and December 31, 1998, excluding participants who had retired on order before
December 31,1996.

In response to Plaintiffs' prior motion to certify the Interest Rate Class, Duke opposed

class certification on the ground that no proposed class representative had exhausted

administrative remedies on the issue. The exhaustion issue was thoroughly briefed in response

to Duke's motion for judgment on the pleadings and decided adversely to Duke. Accordingly,

following a "meet and confer," Duke withdrew opposition to class certification. The Plaintiffs

stipulate that Duke, in withdrawing opposition to class certification on this ground, is not

waiving or abandoning its exhaustion argument and that issue is preserved for future motion, if

appropriate, or appeal.

(2) Whipsaw Class 2 - (a) All former employees of Duke who were participants in
Duke's Cash Balance Plan, between January 1, 1997 and December 31, 2002,
who retired and took lump sum benefits prior to age 65, and whose lump sum
benefits were calculated during a calendar quarter when the applicable interest
crediting rate under the relevant Plan documents exceeded the applicable interest
rate for discounting to present value under the Plan document, and

2 The class definition stated in the amended complaint has been further refined herein to
preclude inadvertent inclusion of participants not adversely impacted by Duke's failure to
perform whipsaw calculations.

4
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(b) All present employees of Duke who were participants in the Cash Balance
Plan on or before December 31, 2002 who may elect early retirement and lump
sum benefits as an optional form of benefit.

Duke's counsel has taken the position that it will oppose certification of a whipsaw class

based on a contention that no named plaintiff received a lump sum distribution between January

I, 1997 and December 31, 2002. However, the above-described class extends beyond that

period. In any event, plaintiffs cannot report that Duke does not oppose certification of the

above-described Whipsaw Class.

(3) Fiduciary Duty/ Opening Balance Class - All present and/or former employees
of Duke who were participants in Duke's Cash Balance Plan and employees as of
January I, 1997.

Prior to amending the complaint, plaintiffs had previously withdrawn their request for

class certification of their more generally described fiduciary duty claim, which had in part been

directed to the overall impact ofthe plan conversion. Plaintiffs seek certification of the amended

and more particularly described Count VI fiduciary duty claim, with particular emphasis on

Duke's actions, misrepresentations and concealments related to the setting and adjustment of

opening cash balances. Duke's counsel has informed plaintiffs' counsel that Duke intends to

contest certification of a Fiduciary Duty/Opening Balance Class.

B. Class Certification Requirements Under Rule 23

Rule 23(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure establishes four prerequisites for class

certification: "[that] (1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all its members is impracticable;

(2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class; (3) the claims or defenses of the

representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class; and (4) the representative

parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class." Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a). Class

5
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certification is only appropriate if the named plaintiffs establish all four prerequisites. General

Telephone Co. ofSouthwestv. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147,156 (1982).

The putative class must also be a type of class maintainable under Rule 23(b). Here

plaintiffs contend that certification is maintainable under Rule 23(b)(1), (b)(2), and/or (b)(3).

Under subsection (b)(1), plaintiffs must establish that the adjudication of individual claims

"would establish incompatible standards of conduct" on Duke or "be dispositive of the interests

of the other members not parties to the adjudications or substantially impair or impede their

ability to protect their interests." Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(A) and (B). Under subsection (b)(2),

plaintiffs must establish that "the party opposing the class has acted or refused to act on grounds

generally applicable to the class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or

corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole." Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2).

Under subsection (b)(3), plaintiffs must establish that "the questions of law or fact common to

the members of the class predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and

that a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of

the controversy." Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).

It is appropriate to bring a class action where the issues involved are common to the class

as a whole; the questions of law are applicable in the same way to each class member; and the

class action procedure allows for the efficient and economical litigation of a question potentially

affecting every class member. See General Tel. Co., 457 U.S. at 157.

The question to be answered for class certification is not whether the plaintiffs will

prevail on the merits but, rather, whether the requirements of Rule 23 are met. Eisen v. Carlisle

& Jacquelin, 417 U.S. 156 (1974). However, the certification question often entails

considerations that are "enmeshed in the factual and legal issues comprising the cause of action"

6
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and, where necessary, the court may look beyond the face of the pleadings in order to come to a

proper conclusion on the certification question. See General Tel. Co., 457 U.S. at 161; Risher v.

Crestar Mortgage Corporation, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14449 at *11 (D.S.C. Mar. 30,2001).

The determination of the efficacy of a class action rests soundly within the discretion of

this Court, and should reflect the intended flexibility of Rule 23. While each case must be

viewed through the prism of its particular facts, the interpretation of Rule 23 should be "a liberal

rather than a restrictive construction, adopting a standard of flexibility in application which will

in the particular case 'best serve the ends of justice for the affected parties and ... promote

judicial efficiency.'" In re: A. H Robins Co., Inc., 880 F.2d 709, 740 (4th Cir. 1989). Indeed,

the decisions on the proper standard of construction of Rule 23 explain that, if an error is to be

made, it must be "in favor of and not against the maintenance of the class action." Esplin v.

Hirschi, 402 F.2d 94, 99 (10th Cir. 1968). There is a presumption favoring class certification:

"[T]he interests of justice require that in a doubtful case ... any error, if there is to be one,

should be committed in favor of allowing a class action." Eisenberg v. Gagnon, 766 F.2d 770,

785 (3rd Cir. 1985) (quoting Kahan v. Rosenstiel, 424 F.2d 161, 196 (3rd Cir. 1970), cert.

denied, 398 U.S. 950 (1970) (citations omitted».

In Banyai, supra, 205 F.R.D. at 165, the court stated that "[c]lass actions are generally

well-suited to litigation brought pursuant to ERISA." See also Richards v. FleetBoston

Financial Corp., supra, 235 F.R.D. 165 (certification of ERISA claims appropriate because each

class member's claim arose from the same course of events and each made similar legal

arguments to prove the defendants' liability). In this case, the overriding goal of the putative

class is to establish the existence of a pattern of conduct which resulted in violations of both and

ERISA plan and ERISA, matters clearly subject to common proof.

7
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class. Id. at § 3.05, p. 3-25; Consolidated Rail Corp. v. Town ofHyde Park, 47 F.3d 473, 483

(2d CiT. 1995).

Given the thousands of employees impacted by the erroneous application of interest rates

by Duke during a two year period, it is clear that plaintiffs have met the Rule 23(a) numerosity

requirements. Simply stated, the manageability of handling thousands of claims under ERISA

would be greatly facilitated by the class action vehicle. Numerosity is, thus, easily satisfied.

(b) Commonality

The Rule 23(a)(2) requirement for common questions of law or fact for a class action is

achieved with the existence of a single common question of either law or fact; not all questions

of law or fact need be common. Bates, 132 F.R.D. at 163. The commonality test is met when

there is "at least one issue whose resolution will affect all or a significant number of the putative

class members." Stewart v. Winter, 669 F.2d 328, 335 (5th Cir. 1982); 1 Newberg on Class

Actions, § 3.10, at 3-50.

With regard to the interest rate class, motion practice has established that the sole

question presented is to determine the correct date from which the interest crediting rate was to

be determined under the language of the two initial iterations of §3.9 of the Duke cash balance

plan. See Order, dated June 2, 2008 (docket #195), at pp. 33-39. The resolution of this one

common question resolves the entire claim for the Interest Rate Class. Commonality could not

be more clearly established.

(c) Typicality

The typicality prerequisite of Rule 23(a) generally is satisfied if the plaintiffs assert a

similar interest and similar injury. General Telephone Co., 457 U.S. at 157. In the words of the

Supreme Court, "[t]he typicality requirement is said to limit the class claims to those fairly

9
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encompassed by the named plaintiffs' claims." General Telephone Co. ofthe N W, Inc. v. Equal

Employment Opportunity Commission, 446 U.S. 319, 330 (1980). The typicality test of Rule

23(a) does not require that "the representatives have identical claims which other members of the

class might present. The question of typicality focuses on the similarity of the legal and remedial

theories of claims ofthe named and unnamed plaintiffs." Bates, 132 F.R.D. at 163.

The named plaintiffs herein are all members of the Interest Rate Class under the proposed

class definition and they all suffered losses based on the misapplication of interest rates by Duke

during 1997 and 1998. See East Texas Motor Freight System, Inc. v. Rodriguez, 431 U.S. 395,

403 (1977).

Aside from the issue of quantum which will vary among class members, all other issues

are "typical" to the class - that is, whether Duke violated the terms of the Plan in setting the

interest crediting rate during 1997 and 1998.

(d) Adequacy ofRepresentation

The final hurdle of Rule 23 (a)(4) requires adequacy of representation. A class

representative must "possess the same interest and suffer the same injury as the class members."

Amchem Products v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 625-26 (1997). The adequacy of representation

requirement encompasses two factors: (1) whether plaintiffs interests are antagonistic to the

interests of other members of the class; and (2) whether plaintiffs attorneys are qualified,

experienced and able to conduct the litigation. Bates, 132 F.R.D. at 163.

Plaintiffs proposed Plaintiffs George, Bowen, Moyer, Miller and Matthews3 as class

representatives of the interest rate class as all were participants during 1997 and 1998 and were

3 While named Plaintiff Clyde Freeman was
miscalculations he is not proffered as a class representative.

10

also impacted by the interest
Because of a family illness, Mr.
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adversely affected by the improper interest crediting. Duke has taken the deposition of each

proposed class representative twice and these Plaintiffs have shown a basic understanding of the

issues in this case and have been highly involved in the litigation, assisting in developing the

facts, reviewing the pleadings, and communicating regularly with their counsel. They are

intelligent, possess good character, and are highly motivated. See, e.g., Affidavits of George,

Miller and Matthews (Docket ## 33-3, 33-4, 33-5).

Finally, the proposed class representatives are represented by counsel with substantial

experience in the field of ERISA, and also in the prosecution and successful resolution of

complex litigation and class actions. See Affidavits of James R. Gilreath, Cheryl Perkins,

and Mona Lisa Wallace. Docket ## 33-6, 33-7, 33-8).

2. The Whipsaw Class

(a) Numerosity:

The whipsaw class consists of thousand of Duke prior employees who have taken early

retirement since 1997 and opted for a lump sum rather than an aunuity payout. These retirees

have not received the benefit of the whipsaw calculation mandated by IRS Notice 96-8. The class

should also include current employee impacted by Duke's continued refusal to properly perform

whipsaw calculations, where required. Ex. B: IRS Notice 96-8 Sec. III.B.3., pp 3-4; 1996-1

C.B. 359, 361; 1996 IRB LEXIS 51; 1996-6 I.R.B. 23. Duke's internal whipsaw report lists

almost 5000 lump sum retirees through third quarter 2003 alone. Ex. C: DE080322.

For the same reasons stated above regarding the Interest Rate Class, the numerosity

requirement is met with regard to the whipsaw class.

Freeman was unable to participate in class discovery and Plaintiffs stipulated that he would not
be proposed to represent the class.

11
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(b) Commonality

The Rule 23(a)(2) requirement for common questions of law or fact for a class action is

achieved with the existence of a single common question of either law or fact; not all questions

of law or fact need be common. Bates, 132 F.R.D. at 163. The commonality test is met when

there is "at least one issue whose resolution will affect all or a significant number of the putative

class members." Stewart v. Winter, supra, 669 F.2d at 335; 1 Newberg on Class Actions, § 3.10,

at 3-50.

ERISA provides that, where an accrued benefit is paid before normal retirement age or in

a form other than an annuity, the payment must be "the actuarial equivalent" of the annual

benefit paid at normal retirement. 29 U.S.C. § 1054(d)(3). The projection of the account

balances to age 65 at a higher interest rate than the rate used to compute the actuarial present

value of the accrued benefit at termination results in a phenomenon called "whipsaw." IRS

Notice 96-8 prescribes that in this situation, a calculation must be made, the so-called "whipsaw

calculation," because the resulting lump sum amount will exceed the balance in the cash balance

account. Duke representatives have admitted no "whipsaw" calculations have been performed

under the cash balance plan because it takes the position that the lump sum payout equals the

cash balance account balance.

In proposed guidance, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") stated regarding this

requirement:

... assuming that the annuity conversion factor under the plan is not less than the
annuity conversion factor determined using the applicable interest rate and
mortality table under section 417 (e) (3), the employee's hypothetical account
balance will equal or exceed the present value of the employee's accrued benefit
determined in accordance with section 417 (e). Thus, a single sum distribution
equal to the employee's hypothetical account balance under such a plan will
satisfy sections 411 (a) and 417 (e).
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In other cases,a single sum distribution equal to an employee'shypothetical
accountbalancewill satisfy sections417 (e) and 411 (a) if (a) the annuity
conversionfactor is not lessthanthe annuityconversionfactor determinedusing
the applicableinterestrateandmortality tableundersection417 (e) (3), (b) under
themethodfor reflectingfuture interestcreditsin thecalculationof anemployee's
accruedbenefit, the future interestcredits are projectedusing a rate that is no
greaterthat the applicableinterestrate under section417 (e) (3), and (c) this
projectiondoesnot resultin a forfeiture in violationof section411 (a).

By contrast,if the interestrateor rateof returnundertheplanusedin determining
the amountof interestcredits is high relative to the section417 (e) (3) interest
rate,the plancannotdistributea singlesumequalto the employee'shypothetical
accountbalanceandsatisfysections411 (a) and417 (e). If sucha planprovided
that, in determininganemployee'saccruedbenefit,therateusedfor projectingthe
amountof future interest credits was no greaterthan the interestrate under
section417 (e) (3), theprojectionwould resultin a forfeiture. Alternatively, if the
plan providedfor interestcreditsto be projectedusing a rate that exceededthe
section417 (e) interestrate but then providedfor the benefit to be discounted
usingthatsamehigherrate,theplanwould violatesection417(e).

Ex. B: IRS Notice96-8Sec.III.B.3., pp 3-4; 1996-1C.B. 359,361; 1996IRB LEXIS 51;
1996-6I.R.B. 23.

The so-called"safeharbor"provisionsof IRS Notice 96-8 doesnot allow Duke to avoid

a whipsawcalculationunderthe terms of either the 1996, 1997 or the 1999 Plan documents.

This is becausefor a Planthatprovidesthat the amountof interestcreditsis determinedusinga

variableinterestrate or rate of return no greaterthan the applicableinterestrate undersection

417 (e) (3), thereis a safeharboronly" assumingthat the annuity conversionfactor underthe

plan is not lessthanthe annuityconversionfactor determinedusing the applicableinterestrate

andmortality tableundersection417 (e) (3)...." Ex. B: IRS Notice96-8Sec.III.B.3., pp 3-

4; 1996-1c.B. 359; 1996IRB LEXIS 51; 1996-6I.R.B. 23.

There is a common nucleus of operative fact governing the whipsaw claim. The

overarchingissue is whether Duke was required to perform thewhipsaw calculation when

participantschosethe optional, lump sum,form of benefit. This commonissueis presentedfor

all participantsunderthe cashbalanceplan from 1997, exceptparticipantsvestingin the Plan
13
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afterJanuary1,2003,becausethereis no versionof theDukeRetirementCashBalancePlanthat

providesfor a projectedinterestcreditingrate anddiscountrate that is identical. The analysis

varies as to the ratesthat shouldbe appliedunderthe variousPlan amendmentsbut the "safe

harbor"questionremainsthe same.

Thetime line of Planamendments revealsthat from 1997through1998Plandocuments

providein § 3.9 for a interestcreditingratethat is resetquarterlybasedon the "averageyield on

30-yearTreasuryBondspublishedin theFederalReservestatisticalReleaseH.l5." Ex. D: 1996

Plan§ 3.9; Ex. E: 1997Plan§ 3.9. TheMonthly InterestRateis alsoresetquarterlyin the 1999

plan under §5.04(b) as defined in Plan §§ 2.38 and 2.39. Ex. F-1: 1999 Plan, DE000278,

DE000288.However, from JanuaryI, 1997 throughDecember31, 1998, the Plan document

providedfor an actuarialvalue using the an annuity conversionfactor that was resetannually

basedon "the annualyield on 30-yearTreasurysecuritiesdeterminedas the averagefor the

monthof November priorto the beginningof the PlanYear during which the Annuity Starting

Datebegins,asdeterminedin accordancewith Section417(e)of theCode." Ex. F-2: 1996Plan

§1.4,DE006219j1997Plan§ 1.4. DE000088-9. For all exceptoneof the quarterscoveredby

the 1996 and 1997plans,the interestcreditingrate was higherthanthe rate usedto determine

actuarial value. Ex. C: DE080322-323. For this reasona whipsaw calculationwas clearly

requiredandwould haveproducedahigherlump sumfor participants.

The 1999 Plan amendmentdeletedthe definition of actuarialvalue. Plaintiffs contend

that§5.04(c)governsthedeterminationoflump sumactuarialvalue:

Notwithstandinganythinghereinto thecontrary,if aparticipantelectsto receivea
lump sum distribution prior to his normal retirementdate, the monthly interest
rate applied for purposesof determiningthe lump sum distribution shall be the
lessor of 4% or the applicable interest rate specified in Code § 417(e) and
TreasuryRegulation1.417(e)-IT.

14
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Ex. F-1: 1999Plan;DE-000288.

Duke concedesthat the Appendix A settingforth actuarialequivalencedoesnot apply,

but takesthe position that, rather than resort to the sectionof the Plan that unequivocallyis

prefacedwith "Notwithstandinganythinghereinto the contrary,resortto the Sec.417(e)rate is

assumed."Ex. G: HearingTranscript(12/19/08)atpp. 72-3. Theapplicabilityof Sec.5.04(c)

will beanissuefor thecourtin determiningthefactorsthatshouldhavebeenusedto determinea

whipsawcalculation. The"safeharbor"issue,howeverremainsthesame. Dukedid notperform

a whipsawcalculationusing the interestrate called for by Section5.04(c) OR the rate it now

assertsto have beenapplicable--the Sec. 417(e) rate. Under Duke's theory the exact same

analysisappliesaswith the 1996and 1997plans. The interestcreditingrateresetquarterlyand

the rateusedfor actuarialvalue resetmonthly, basedon the 417(e)default rate, orannually if

AppendixA to thePlanis usedfor guidance.

EffectiveJanuary1,2003,DukeamendedthePlanto includein "AppendixA" aninterest

projectionrate and discountrate applicableto lump sum calculationsthat were by their terms

identical:

Annual yield on 30-yearUnited StatesTreasury securities determinedas the
averagefor themonthofNovember priorto thebeginningof thePlanYearduring
whichtheAnnuity Startingfalls.

Ex. H: 1999Plan,Amendment9, DE000368-369.

This 2003 amendmentbroughtthe Planinto compliancewith Notice 96-8 "safeharbor"

requirements. The amendment,however, could only apply to participantsvesting after the

effective date. This is because,to the extent that Amendment9 prescribesa less favorable

discountrate,or lessfavorableinterestprojectionrate, it is consideredan unlawful cut-backof
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accrued benefits. ERISA §204(g), 29 U.S.C. §1054(g); IRC §41l(d)(6), and Treasury

Regulations§§1.41l(d)-4,Q&A-I(a)(2)&(3) and 1.411(d)-3(g)(6)(i);see,also, Ex. I: Rev. Rul.

81-12; 1981-1C.B. 228; 1981IRB LEXIS 443.

Duke'sown analysisof theannualversusquarterlyinterestratesshowsthatbetweenJuly

1997andDecember1998,theapplicableinterestratewashigherthanthe rateusedto determine

actuarialvalueunderthe Plan documents. BetweenJanuaryI, 1999 and December31, 2002,

Plaintiffs contendthat the Sec.5.04(c) rate of 4% applied,which was lessat all times thanthe

interestcreditingrateandthat suchratecontinuedto apply for all participantvestedin the plan

on or before December31, 2002. Even under Duke's contentionthat the Sec. 417(e) date

appliedratherthanthe Sec.5.04(c)of 4%, the interestcreditingrateundertheplanexceededthe

annualTreasuryrate in 9 of 16 quarters. Ex. C: DE080322-3. If the default417(e)ratewere

appliedthe numberof quarterswould clearly increasebecauseof the climateof falling interest

rates.However,evenunderits own readingof thevariousversionsof thePlanasrequiringuseof

the §417(e) discountrate,theequivalencyrequirementsfor the IRS Notice 96-8 safeharborwere

not met. This is becausethe interestcrediting rate underthe Plan resetson a quarterlybasis

whereasthe§ 417(e) rateresetsannually. Thus,for themajority of quarterssincetheconversion

in 1997theinterestcreditingrateandthe § 417(e)ratewerenot equal.

In sum, the whipsaw claim turns on Duke's course of conduct with regard to the

calculationof lump sumpayoutsthatappliesacrosstheboardto all proposedclassmembers,and

implicateswhetherDuke's uniform methodof determiningthose lump sum amountsviolates

ERISA § 204(c)(3),ERISA'santi-cutbackprovision,IRS § 417(e),andthe languageof theplan

documentsthemselves.The aboveanalysisthusdemonstratesthat commonlegal questionsthat

will resolvethewhipsawclaim for thousandsof Dukeparticipants.
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Eachof the putativeclassplaintiffs hereinseekscompensatorydamagesunderERISA

basedon the improperlump sumcalculations. Certificationof a classunder Rule23 is usually

warrantedwhere individual wrongs are allegedto have occurredpursuantto a commonplan

uniformly appliedacrossthe boardby the defendant. SeeFeret v. CoreStatesFinancial Corp.,

C.A. No. 97-6759,1998U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12734,*37 (E.D.Pa.Aug. 18, 1998)("the focusof the

typicality requirementis on the defendants'conduct" in an ERISA case). Thoughindividual

recoveriesfor the putative class membersherein may differ, each individual's recovery is

dependenton the dispositivequestionof whetherDuke'sactionsviolatedERISA andthe terms

of the plan basedon its failure to properlyperformwhipsawcalculations. See,e.g., Finnan v.

F.Rothschild& Co., Inc., 726 F.Supp.460 (S.D.N.Y. 1989). This commonquestionof fact and

law is particularlywell suitedto a classaction suit andthis single broad questionis a common

questionsufficientto satisfytherequirementof Rule23(a)(2). SeeBates,132F.R.D.at 163.

(c) Typicality

The typicality prerequisiteof Rule 23(a) generallyis satisfiedif the plaintiffs asserta

similar interestandsimilar injury. GeneralTelephoneCo., 457 U.S. at 157. In the wordsofthe

SupremeCourt, "[t]he typicality requirementis said to limit the class claims to those fairly

encompassedby the namedplaintiffs' claims." GeneralTelephoneCo. ofthe N W, supra, 446

U.S. at 330. The typicality test of Rule 23(a) doesnot requirethat "the representativeshave

identical claims which other membersof the classmight present. The questionof typicality

focuseson the similarity of the legal andremedialtheoriesof claimsof thenamedandunnamed

plaintiffs." Bates,132F.R.D.at 163.
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Theplaintiffs, George,Bowen,Miller andMatthewsareappropriateclassrepresentatives

for the WhipsawClass.4 Mr. Bowen and Mr. Georgeboth took early retirementand received

lump sum benefits which Duke treated as equivalent to the cash balanceaccountbalance.

Whipsawcalculationswerenot performed. Mr. Miller and Mr. Matthewsremainemployedat

Duke andwerevestedin the plan on or beforeDecember3I, 2002. Either employeepresently

hastheoptionto takeearlyretirementandchooseanoptionalform ofbenefit. Dukecontinuesto

insistthatno whipsawcalculationwill beperformed.

As discussedabove,if "the sameunlawful conductwas directedat or affectedboth the

namedplaintiff andthe classsoughtto be represented,the typicality requirementis usuallymet

irrespectiveof minor variationsof the fact patternsunderlyingthe individual claims." Robidoux

v. Celan, 987 F.2d 931,936-37(2nd Cir. 1993);see,e.g., Kreuzfeld,A.G. v. Carnehammar,138

F.R.D. 594,599(S.D.Fla.1991)(statingtypicality inquiry is whetherclassrepresentativeis part

of the class,possessesthe sameinterest,andsuffersthesameinjury asthe classmembers).This

alignmentof similar interestsand similar injuries assuresthat the class representativeshave

interestsand incentivesconsistentwith thoseof absentclassmembers,suchthat the absentee

members'interestsare protected:"[AJ plaintiff with typical claims will pursuehis or her own

self interestand in so doing will advancethe interestsof the classmembers, whichare aligned

with thoseoftherepresentative."1Newbergon ClassActions,supraat § 3.13,p. 3-77.

Plaintiffs herein are membersof the Whipaw Class classesunder the proposedclass

definition. Eachnamedplaintiff sharesthe interestsandmotivationsof the absentmembersof

theWhipsawClass. Plaintiffs, GeorgeandBowen,whentheyretired,electedandacceptedlump

4 Clyde Freemanis not profferedas a classrepresentative.Plaintiff GeorgeMoyers is
not a suitableclassrepresentativebecausehe wasover age65 whenhe took lump sumbenefits
andno whipsawcalculationwould beneeded.
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sumpaymentsduring the classperiodandweredamagedto the extentthattheywereunderpaid

dueto DukeEnergy'sfailure to performa whipsawcalculation. Plaintiffs MatthewsandMiller

are current employee/participantsand thereforewould be beneficiariesof the injunctive and

declaratoryrelief soughtwhentheysubsequentlyretire, in thatDukeEnergywould becompelled

to makethe whipsawcalculationrequiredby both the PlanandERISA if they, like the absent

class memberswho are current employees,choosethe lump sum paymentover an annuity.

Aside from the issueof discountpercentage,which will dependuponthe controlledrevisionof

the plan, all other issues are"typical" to the class- that is, whetherthe defendantsfailed to

complywith ERISA andthePlanprovisions.

Accordingly,therequirementof typicality is met.

(d) AdequacyofRepresentation

As set forth immediately above, the proposedWhipsaw Class representativesdo not

possessinterestsantagonisticto other membersof the class; two plaintiffs have interestsin

commonwith retireeswho havereceivedlump sumsin violation of the plan,andtwo othersare

currentemployeeswho sharethe interestof current employeesin declaratoryand injunctive

relief with regardto future lump sum paymentsuponretirement. Also, as shownabove,they

haveshowna basicunderstandingof the action and a willingnessto participateand aid in the

litigation. As shownby previousfiling, plaintiffs' attorneysarequalified, experiencedandable

to conductthelitigation. Bates,132F.R.D.at 163.

Accordingly,asto theWhipsawClass,all requirementsof Rule23(a)aremet.

3. Fiduciary Duty Class

(a) Numerosity
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Duke itself has statedin its most recentAnnual Report that the numberof potential

plaintiffs in this case"is estimatedto include approximately36,000persons." Duke Energy

Annual Report on Form 10-K, p. 147. It is undisputed that Duke had thousandsof

employees/participantsasof January1, 1997,the operativedatefor the FiduciaryDuty/Opening

BalanceClass. Numerosityis not at issue.

(b) Commonality

As setforth above,theRule23(a)(2)requirementfor commonquestionsof law or fact for

a classactionis achievedwith the existenceof a singlecommonquestionof either law or fact;

not all questionsoflaw or fact needbe common. Bates,132 F.R.D. at 163;Stewart,supra, 669

F.2d at 335 (commonalitystandardmet whenthereis "at leastone issuewhoseresolutionwill

affectall or a significantnumberof theputativeclassmembers");1Newbergon ClassActions, §

3.10, at 3-50. Rule 23's commonality requirement"is not difficult to meet. In fact, 'this

requirementhasbeencharacterizedas a low hurdle, easilysurmounted.", Smith v. Aon Corp.,

238 F.R.D. 609, 614 (N.D. Ill. 2006) (quoting Scholesv. Stone, McGuire & Benjamin, 143

F.R.D. 181, 184(N.D. Ill. 1992)).

There are numerouscommonlegal and factual issuesin Count VI which, as amended

pursuantto theCourt'sJune2008Order,assertsa moredetailedsetofbreachesof fiduciary duty

thanthe prior fiduciary duty claim. The allegationsof Claim VI and the recordsupportingthe

claim, setforth in muchgreaterdetail in Plaintiffs' concurrentlyfiled responseto Duke'smotion

to dismissthat claim, describea courseof conductby Duke that appliesto amendmentsto the

retirementplan in 1996and 1997, settingof openingbalances,adjustmentof openingbalances,

misrepresentationsconcerningopeningbalancesand Duke'sadministrationof the plan outside

the four comersof theplanusinghandcalculatedopeningbalancesin a mannerthatwasneither
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warrantedby any existingplan languagenor consistentwith written representationsuniformly

cOInmunicatedto the participantson a massbasis. Eachof theseallegationsrelatesto actions

takenby the defendantDuke Energyand carriedout pursuantto its fiduciary obligationsunder

ERISA.

As amended,CountVI generallyallegesseveralbreachesof fiduciary duty in connection

with theDecember1996amendmentof theplanandadministrationof theplanthereunder.More

specifically, on December23, 1996, Duke executeda plan documentwhich providedthat the

effective date of the cashbalanceplan would be JanuaryI, 1997, and that the openingcash

balancewould be as setforth in an attachedScheduleof OpeningBalanceAccounts. Ex. J:

DE006236. However, no such schedulewas attachedto the December1996 plan document,

which hasbeendescribedby Duke'sown ChiefAdministrativeOfficer asa "placeholder." Ex.

K: Rolfe Depo. pp. 30-31. Accordingly, for more than six months, from January I, 1997

throughJuly of that year,therewasno written cashbalanceplan from which participantscould

computedeterminablebenefitsin the form of their openingcashbalanceasof JanuaryI, 1997,

nor couldanyactuarydo so,becausetherewasneithera Schedule settingforth suchbalancesnor

a formula or descriptionof the same,all in violation of29 U.S.C. § II04(a)(I)(D), § II02(b)(4)

and the terms of the Plan itself. No summaryplan descriptionwas distributedto participants

until evenlater, in September1997. Ex. L: 1997SPD.

In the contextof the foregoing, the participantswere left only with certainaffirmative

representationsmadeby Dukein written documentsdistributedto themasaclasswhich spokein

mandatory terms of the opening balancesthe participants would receive. Among those

affirmative representationswere direct written representationsthat the openingcashbalances

would be setso as to providebenefitsequivalentto thoseunderthe previousplan betweenthe
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ages of 60 and 64. See, e.g., Ex. M: MOYER000372; Ex. N: MOYER000350; Ex. 0:

MOYER000356-57.Duke alsomadea uniformly distributedwritten statementrepresentingthat

it wastaking four describedstepsto calculateopeningcashbalancesso asto ensurepromisesof

a benefits"crossover"ageof 60 or 64 (dependingon ageand serviceof the participant).See,

e.g., Ex. P: BOWEN-000160-162;Ex. Q: MOYER-000015-18.

However, contrary to its representations,Duke's internal documentationdemonstrates

that it was not settingopeningbalancesin the manner,or with the ultimate"crossover"results

promised. Instead, Duke performed a secret fifth step that "was not communicatedto

participants." Ex. R: DE120745 (emphasisin original). This undisclosedfifth step was

performedto circumventtherequirementsof ERISA § 204(h)thatnoticebe givento participants

if the conversionhadthe effectof reducingbenefits. More particularly,a February,1997,letter

from Duke's actuaryto Richard Jefferiesof Duke, verified that openingbalanceswere being

adjusted"suchthat [the participant's]age65projectedbenefitsundertheCashBalancePlanand

theprior planwould beequal...." Ex. S: M_0037195-196.In anotherletter to Mr. Jefferieson

Marh 7, 1997,the actuarydocumentedadjustmentsto 332 accountsto makebenefitsunderthe

newplanequalto thoseundertheold planbyage65. Ex. T: DE044177-9.

The discrepancygiving rise to "step5," andto the tacit alterationof the crossoverfrom

betweenage60/64to age65, arosebecauseinterestrateswere falling. Step5 actuallyrequired

Steps1 through4 to be recalculatedusingthe morecurrentJanuary1997 interestcreditingand

discountrates,andallowed for additionsto openingbalancesto achieveanage65 equivalency.

[d.; seeDE044177. Plaintiffs' CountVI thereforecontends,inter alia, thatDuke, contraryto its

uniform representationsto participantsandthosemadeto the IRS, haddeterminedopeningcash

balancesin suchamannerasto substantiallyreducebenefits.
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None of the opening balancesappearin a plan until July 1997. Duke, is essence

administered thecashbalanceplanasaninformal planamendmentbetweenJanuary1, 1997and

July 15, 1997, a clear violation of ERISA. Duke administeredthe plan with resort to hand

calculatedopening balances,not a part of the plan. The Decemberplan amendmentwas

violative of ERISA aswasDuke'sadministrationthereunder

Plaintiffs anticipatethat Duke may contendthat the portion of CountVI which alleges

misrepresentationsin the masscommunicationsto employeesconcerningthe calculationof

opening cash balances fails to satisfy commonality because resolution of a fiduciary

misrepresentationclaim purportedlyrequiresindividual inquiries into the materiality of those

representations.Suchcontentionshavebeenroutinely rejectedby courtsin casessuchasthis, in

which the communicationsareuniform, written onesmadeto the entireclass. See,e.g., Feret v.

CoreStatesFinancial Corp, supra., 1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12734, at **28-30; Bunnion v.

ConsolidatedRail Corp., No. 97-4877, 1998 WL 372644, 1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7727, *6

(E.D.Pa.May 4, 1998). Sucha result is evenmore compelling in this casewhen the entire

participantgroup was left with thesemasscommunicationsas the only sourceof information

concerningtheir openingbalances,evenafter the amendment'seffectivedate,againin violation

ofERISA.

Similarly, courts have rejected attack on commonality due to purported individual

inquiries into reliance. See,e.g., Feret v. CoreStatesFinancial Corp, supra., 1998 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 12734, at **30-31 (commonality in ERISA case asserting fiduciary duty

misrepresentationclaim not defeatedby defendant'sassertionthat there are individualized

relianceissues);seealso In re Prudential Ins. Co. AmericaSalesPractice AgentActions, 148

F.3d283,315(3rd Cir. 1998)(theassertedpresenceof individual relianceor damagesissuesin a
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classactionallegingdeceptivesalespracticesdoesnot precludethe moredifficult standardthat

commonquestionspredominateover individual questionspursuantto Rule 23(b)(3)). Duke

indirectly concedesas much by its failure to seek discovery from participantsbeyond the

proposedclass representativesthemselves. See Amara v. Cigna Corp., supra, 2008 WL

2403772,at *3 (rejecting defendants'"individual inquiries" challengeto commonalityin the

contextof communicationsto participantswhere the defendantslimited their discoveryto the

classrepresentatives,asopposedto otherclassmembers,anddid not call any classmembersas

witnesses,and providedno evidencethat any employeeshad actualnotice of the undisclosed

informationat issue).

Moreover,any of Duke'saforementionedactionswere concealedfrom the participants.

Duke admittedlydid not disclosethe secretfifth step,the critical importanceof which was to

showthat crossoverprojectionswere not being met. Duke concealedfrom participantsthat it

wasnotusingthe interestratedatacurrentasofJanuaryI, 1997to setopeningbalances,while at

the sametime, it was using different, more current interestrate datato calculateits potential

ERISA Sec.204(h)liability basedonage65 crossover.All thewhile Dukehadfrozenprotected

accrualsunder the former plan. Theseaffirmative acts of concealmentare commonto each

memberof the class and are, therefore, devoid of individualized issues. See, e.g., In re

LinerboardAntitrustLitig., 203 F.R.D. 197,223(E.D.Pa.2001) (finding fact of concealmentto

be a predominatequestionbecausethe inquiry necessarilyfocuseson the defendant'sconduct

ratherthanthatofplaintiffs).

(c) Typicality

As set forth above,the typicality prerequisiteof Rule 23(a) generallyis satisfiedif the

plaintiffs asserta similar interestand similar injury, GeneralTelephoneCo., 457 U.S. at 157.

24

8:06-cv-00373-RBH       Date Filed 08/18/2008      Entry Number 221        Page 30 of 45



The typicality testof Rule 23(a)doesnot requirethat "the representativeshaveidentical claims

which other membersof the classmight present. The questionof typicality focuseson the

similarity of the legal and remedialtheoriesof claims of the namedand.unnamedplaintiffs."

Bates,132F.R.D.at 163.

The five namedplaintiffs, George,Moyers, Bowen, Miller and Matthews,proposedas

class representativesfor the fiduciary duty/openingbalanceclaim, are each participantsin

Duke's CashBalancePlan and were employeesas of January1, 1997. Eachwas adversely

impactedby Duke'sactionsregardingopeningbalancesandnoneof the classrepresentativedid

or will achieve crossover as promised. Plaintiffs Moyers, George and Bowen, as

participant/retirees,sharethe interestsof participantswho have already retired and received

paymentsarising from an illegal plan amendment.Plaintiffs Matthewsand Miller, as current

employee/participants,sharethe interestsof participantswho havean interestin declaratoryand

injunctiverelief. All participantshada like interestin reformationof thePlaneitherto strikethe

invalid December1996 amendmentor to reform the plan amendmentto comply with the plan

termsandthe law.

(d) AdequacyofRepresentation

The proposedFiduciary Duty/OpeningBalanceClass representativesdo not possess

interestsantagonisticto othermembersof the class,in that eachseeksreformationof the cash

balanceplanin amannerthatwould benefit(i.e., increase)thebalancesof theclassmembers.

Basedon its oppositionto plaintiffs' motionto amend,Dukemayneverthelessarguethat

the plaintiffs are inadequatebecausetheyhaveinterestsadverseto thoseof otherpotentialclass

members,on the theorythat someparticipantsmay preferthe cashbalanceplanasimplemented

by Duke, warts and all. However, in Richards v. FleetBoston,supra, the District Court in
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Connecticutgrantedclasscertificationoverobjectionsvirtually identicalto thoseraisedby Duke

in this case.

The defendantsarguethat Richardshas interestsantagonisticto thoseof some
putativeclassmembers....They arguethat somemembersof theproposedclass
are betteroff underthe AmendedPlanthanthey would be underthe Traditional
Planandthat it would be improperto bind themto a non-opt-outclass.. .. The
court finds thatRichardscanadequatelyrepresentthe interestsof the classasshe
hasproposedit. ... For the reasonsdiscussedin PartIV.E. of this court'sruling
on the defendants'motion to dismiss, the defectsin disclosurethemselvesare
significant enoughto establisha presumptionof likely prejudice,commonto all
membersof theclass,andthis presumptionhasnot beenrebutted.

For thesereasons,the membersof the proposedclass shareRichard'sclaims.
Even if the court were to accept the defendants'allegation that some class
memberswould prefer to receive the greater benefits afforded them by the
AmendedPlan,with its allegedviolationsof ERISA, thanto receivebenefitsthat
they would havereceivedhad Fleetkept the Traditional Plan in place,doesnot
meanthatthecourtshouldexcludethoseindividualsfrom a classthat is createdto
vindicatetheir ERISA-createdrights.

235 F.R.D. at 170 (citationsomitted). Seealso I Newbergon ClassActions § 3.30; Grooverv.

Michelin N Am., Inc., 192F.R.D. 305,306,307n. I (M.D.Ala. 2000) (holdingthat 'the fact that

someclassmembersmay be satisfiedwith the welfare benefits they are currently receiving,

notwithstandingany allegedcontractualviolation, and would prefer to maintainthe statusquo

and leaveviolations of their rights, if violations exist, unremediedis not dispositiveunderRule

23(a),' but not reachingmerits of defendant'sargumentthat some class members'benefits

actuallyincreasedunderthe 'currentsystem')

TheFleetBostoncourtconcluded:

Anothercourtin this district confronteda casefactually similar to thepresentcase
in Amarav. CIGNA Corp. No. 3:0ICV2361(DJS),2002U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25947,
at *6-*7 (D. Conn. Dec. 20, 2002). While recognizingthat "providing the relief
requestedin the complaint on a class-wide basis may actually harm some
membersof the class," he concludedthat "this problemcan be addressedwhen
the court determineswhat remedyshouldbe providedif plaintiff prevailson the
meritsofherclaims."Id.
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This court reachesthe sameconclusionas a resultof its adequacyanalysis.The
questionof remediesis not appropriatefor resolutionat this stagein thelitigation,
and the court is not required to impose the particular remedy requestedby
Richardsevenif sheprevailson themeritsofherclaims.

Id at 172.

It is clearthatDuke'sexpectedintra-classconflicts concernsdo not barcertificationof a

classbenefittingthoseDukeplan participantswho suffereda significantreductionin the rateof

future benefitaccrualsas a resultof the plan amendmentconvertingDuke'straditional defined

benefit plan to a cashbalanceplan and to grant relief in their favor basedon the equitable

principlesespousedabove.

Further, as shown above, they have shown a basic understandingof the actionand a

willingnessto participateandaid in the litigation, includingbut not limited to (for some)pursuit

of administrativeclaimsandappealsbeforethe filing of this lawsuit and(for all) the morethan

two and one-halfyearsof litigation since it was filed, including two roundsof depositions,in

May 2007 and July 2008. As shown by previous filing, plaintiffs' attorneysare qualified,

experiencedandableto conduct thelitigation. Bates,132F.R.D. at 163.

D. Certification under Rule 23(b)

ThePlaintiffs seekcertificationoftheir threeclaimsundervarioussectionsofRule23(b).

1. The Interest Rate Class

Plaintiffs seekcertificationof the InterestRateClassunderRule 23(b)(3). Rule 23(b)(3)

providesthataclasscanbecertified if:

the court finds that the questionsof law or fact commonto the membersof the
classpredominate over any questionsaffecting only individual members,and
that a classaction is superiorto otheravailablemethodsfor the fair andefficient
adjudicationof the controversy.Thematterspertinentto the findings include: (A)
the interestof membersof the classin individually controlling theprosecutionor
defenseof separateactions;(B) the extentandnatureof any litigation concerning
the controversyalreadycommencedby or againstmembersof the class;(C) the
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desirability or undesirabilityof concentratingthe litigation of the claims in the
particularforum; (D) the difficulties likely to be encounteredin the management
ofa classaction.

While the relief afforded through claims under ERISA § 502(a)(l)(B) is considered

equitablein nature,seeGreat-WestLife & AnnuityIns. Co. v. Knudson,534 U.S. 204, 210-13,

(2002), themonetaryrelief affordedundersuchclaimsmuststill bedeterminedon an individual

basis.Certification under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) would be inappropriateunder suchcircumstances.

SeeDel Rosariov. King & Prince SeafoodCorp., 2006U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76777,*47 (S.D. Ga.

Mar. 7,2006);accord, Spannv. AOL Time Warner, Inc., 219 F.R.D. 307, 321-22 (S.D.N.Y.

2003).

Rule23(b)(3)whichprovidesfor classcertificationwhen,in additionto meetingthe four

requirementsofRule23(a):(1) commonquestionsoflaw or fact predominate;and(2) wherethe

classactiondeviceis foundby theCourtto besuperiorto otheravailablemethodsfor fairly and

efficiently disposingof thecase. In re A.H RobinsCo., 880F.2dat 727-28. Becausethis action

satisfiesbothof thosecriteria,classcertificationshouldbegranted

(a) PredominanceofCommonIssues

The overwhelmingpredominanceof commonissueson the InterestRateclaim satisfies

the thresholdrequirementof Rule 23(b)(3). The vast majority of factual and legal questions

affect the class as a whole, and overshadowany individual issues which may pertain to

individual employees. There is a commonnucleusof operativefact which is commonto the

class:whetherDuke'suniform administrationwith respectto interestaccrualsunderthe various

iterationsof thePlancomportswith Plantermsand/ortherequirementsof ERISA.

While the partiesdisputethe preciseinterestrate to be applied in determininginterest

creditsduring the classperiod, it is undisputedthat the rate in questionappliesacrossthe board

28

8:06-cv-00373-RBH       Date Filed 08/18/2008      Entry Number 221        Page 34 of 45



to eachplanparticipant'scashbalanceaccount. Accordingly,resolutionoftheinterestrateclaim

turns on a single factual recordand a single legal issue,which doesnot vary from plaintiff to

plaintiff, andshouldbelitigatedonly once.

(b) SuperiorityofClassActionMechanism

This Courtneednot find thatthe classactiondeviceis the ideal solutionto this litigation

in orderto certify a classunderRule 23(b)(3). Rather,this Court needfind only that the class

mechanismis superiorto other availablemeans. Fed.R.Civ.P.23(b)(3); AmchemProductsv.

Windsor,521 U.S. 591 (1997);

Thereare four primary factorsto be consideredin determiningwhethera classaction is

superiorpursuantto Rule 23(b)(3): "(A) the interestof the membersof the classin individually

controlling the prosecutionor defenseof separateactions; (B) the extent and nature of any

litigation concerningthecontroversyalreadycommencedby or againstmembersof theclass;(C)

the desirability or undesirabilityof concentratingthe litigation of the claims in the particular

forum; and (D) the difficulties likely to be encounteredin the managementof a classaction."

Fed.R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).

It is desirablethatthis claim beadjudicatedin oneforum. And managementof a classin

the ERISA context should presentno overriding problems of management. There are no

significant individualized issuesother than calculatingbenefitsupon a finding of liability, a

determinationthatwould haveto bemadein anyERISA case.

Consideringthe Rule 23(b)(3) criteria in the contextof this case,and given the lack of

opposition by Duke to certification of the class, it is clear that the Interest Rate Class is

appropriatefor adjudicationasa classactionunderRule23(b)(3), certificationis not opposedby

DukeandPlaintiffs respectfullyrequestthatanOrdergrantingcertificationbeentered.
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2. The Whipsaw Class

Plaintiffs seekcertification of the Whipsaw classpursuantto eachof the Rule 23(b)

subclasses,23(b)(1) and 23(b)(2). In the alternative, if this court find that the claims are

predominantlycompensatoryand that the requirementsof 23(b)(1) and (b)(2) are not met,

Plaintiffs seecertificationunder23(b)(3).

(a) Rule23(b)(l)

Plaintiffs seekcertification of the proposedwhipsawclassunder Rule23(b)(1), which

statesthatcertificationis appropriatewhere

the prosecutionof separateactionsby or againstindividual membersof the class
would createa risk of (A) inconsistentor varying adjudicationswith respectto
individual membersof the classwhich would establishincompatiblestandardsof
conductfor the party opposingthe class, or (B) adjudicationswith respectto
individual membersof the classwhich would as a practicalmatterbe dispositive
of the interests of the other members not parties to the adjudications or
substantiallyimpairor impedetheir ability to protecttheir interests.

Fed.R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(A) and (B). In Amchem,the SupremeCourt statedthat Rule 23(b)(1)

coverscaseslike this onein which the defendantsare"obligatedby law to treatclassmembers

alike." 521 U.S. at 614..The questionpresentedin the whipsaw claim is whetherDuke's

determinationof lump sumpaymentamountsviolatedERISA and/orPlanterms. If eachof the

multiple thousandsofpensionparticipantsfiled a separatelawsuitto challengeDuke'smethodof

determininglump sumpaymentspursuantto eachof the legal theoriesdescribedat sectionC.2.b

above, inconsistentand varying adjudicationsof the lump sum payment issue would be

inevitable. Additionally, an adjudicationwith respectto individual membersof the classwould

substantiallyimpair or impedethe ability of othermembersto protecttheir interests. Thus,the

plaintiffs havemet the requirementsfor classcertification under Rule23(b)(1). SeeFeret v.
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CoreStatesFinancial Corp., supra, 1998U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12734,*44-45 (certifying, inter alia,

claimsfor providebenefitsunderERISA undereachof thetwo subpartsof Rule23(b)(l».

(b) Rule23(b)(2)

Plaintiffs seekcertification of the proposedwhipsawclassunderRule 23(b)(2), which

statesthat certificationis appropriatewhere"the partyopposingthe classhasactedor refusedto

act on groundsgenerallyapplicableto the class,therebymaking appropriatefinal injunctive

relief or correspondingdeclaratoryrelief with respectto the classas a whole." Fed. R. Civ. P.

23(b)(2). In BabyNealfor & byKanter v. Casey,43 F.3d48, 59 (3rd Cir. 1994),thecourtstated

that "what is importantunder Rule 23(b)(2) is that the relief soughtby the namedplaintiffs

shouldbenefittheentireclass."

With specific regardto the WhipsawClass'claim underCount III, the SeventhCircuit

hasspecificallyheldthatcertificationunderRule23(b)(2) is appropriatein casessuchasthis one

in which plaintiffs allegethe impropercalculationof lump sum benefits. In Berger v. Xerox

Corp. RetirementIncomeGuaranteePlan, supra, Xerox contendedthat the suit did not really

seek injunctive or declaratoryrelief but insteadactually soughtdamagesrepresentedby the

differencebetweenthe lump sumsto which classmemberswereentitledunderERISA andthe

smallerlump sumsthe plan was actuallypaying. 338 F.3d at 763. The SeventhCircuit, in an

opinionauthoredby JudgePosner,rejectedthat argument,holding insteadthat the relief sought

wasdeclaratory:

What is soughtis a declarationthatXerox'smethodof computingthe lump sums
to which withdrawing employeesare entitled is unlawful. That is a ground
commonto all membersof theclass.

Id AlthoughJudgePosnernotedthatthe declarationsoughtandobtainedwasmerelya prelude

to a requestfor damages,hefound:
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A declaratoryjudgmentis normallyapreludeto a requestfor otherrelief, whether
injunctive or monetary.... As long as the concrete follow-on relief that is
envisagedwill if ordered ... be the direct, anticipated consequenceof the
declaration,ratherthansomethingunrelatedto it, the suit canbemaintainedunder
Rule23(b)(2).

Id. at 763-64 (citations and emphasisomitted). Seealso Richards, supra, 235 F.R.D. at 174

("For purposesof subsection(b)(2), an injunction requiring the paymentof moniesunlawfully

withheldin thepastmaybeconsideredinjunctiverelief.").

The relief soughtby the plaintiffs will benefit the entire class. It is relief that, with

respectto thewhipsawclass,is soughtbecauseof singlecourseof actiontakenby thedefendants

with regardto everymemberof the class. Thus, the plaintiffs havemet the requirementsfor

classcertificationunderRule23(b)(2).

(c) Rule23(b)(3)

Although Plaintiffs believe that certification under Rule 23(b)(1) or 23(b)(2) is both

appropriateand preferableunder the authorities cited above, they seek in the alternative

certificationof theproposedclassunderRule23(b)(3).

i) Predominanceofcommonissues

The overwhelmingpredominanceof commonissuesin this actionsatisfiesthe threshold

requirementof Rule 23(b)(3). Here, the vastmajority of factual and legal questionsaffect the

class as a whole, and overshadowany individual issueswhich may pertain to individual

employees.Thereis a commonnucleusof operativefact which is commonto the class:whether

Duke'suniform administrationof the cashbalanceplan with respectto lump sum calculations

comportswith Plantermsand/orthe requirementsof ERISA. Thesecommonquestionsof law

andfact clearlypredominateandrendersthis actionappropriatefor classactiontreatment.
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Determinationof theseissuesturnson a singlefactual record,which doesnot vary from

plaintiff to plaintiff, andshouldbelitigatedonly once.

ii) Superiorityofclassactionmechanism

As set forth above" this Court neednot find that the class action device is the ideal

solutionto this litigation in orderto certify a classunder Rule23(b)(3), but rather,that the class

mechanismis superiorto otheravailablemeans.Fed.R.Civ.P.23(b)(3);Amchem,521 U.S. 591.

The whipsaw class meets the four primary factors to be consideredin determining

whethera classactionis superiorpursuantto Rule23(b)(3): the interestof the classmembersin

individually controlling the prosecutionof separateactions; the extent and nature of any

litigation concerning the controversy already commencedby members of the class; the

desirabilityof concentratingthe litigation of the claimsin this forum; andthe difficulties likely

to beencounteredin themanagementof aclassaction. Fed.R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).

Consideringthesecriteria in the contextof the whipsawclass,it is clear that the class

actionis superiorto any othermethodof adjudicatingthe typeof claimsinvolved. As discussed

at lengthabove,themajority of factualandlegal issuesinvolved in this actionarecommonto all

of the Duke employees. Presentationof thesecommonissuesin the classcontextis clearly

preferableto ensureconsistentclass-wideresults. No other ERISA caseswith regardto the

calculationof lump sum paymentsunder the Duke cashbalanceplan are presentlypending

againstthesedefendantsto plaintiffs' knowledge.

For all of the reasonsstatedaboveit is desirablethat the claims be adjudicatedin one

forum, and the Court has alreadyheld that this particular forum is appropriatein an order

denyingDuke'smotion to transfervenue. Managementof a classin the ERISA contextshould

presentno overridingproblemsof management.Thereareno significant individualizedissues
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otherthancalculatinglump sumbenefitsupona finding of liability, a determinationthat would

haveto bemadein anyERISA case.

3. The FiduciaryDuty/Opening BalanceClass

Plaintiffs seekcertificationof theFiduciaryDuty/OpeningBalanceclasspursuantto Rule

23(b)(I) and23(b)(2),andshowthe Courtthatcertificationwould beproperundereachof them.

As is the casewith regardto the interestclaim and the whipsaw claim; the Count VI claim

assertedby the FiduciaryDuty/OpeningBalanceClassfocuseson actionsof the defendantsthat

applyto administrationof theplanandits openingcashbalancesin general,andthereforerender

it appropriatefor classtreatment.

(a) Rule23(b)(1)

Plaintiffs seekcertificationof theproposedclassesunderRule 23(b)(1), which statesthat

certification is appropriatewhere, as described in more detail above, the defendantsare

"obligatedby law to treatclassmembersalike." Amchem,521 U.S. at 614. Seealso Advisory

CommitteeNote to Rule 23(b)(I) (citing breachof fiduciary duty to beneficiariesasan example

ofpropercertification).

The questionspresentedin this claim includewhetherDuke'sinitial plan amendmentin

December1996violatedERISA, whetherthe subsequentplan administrationwaspursuantto an

"informal" plan for the period January1, 1997 throughJuly 1997, whetherprotectedbenefit

accrualswereunlawfully frozen,andwhethermisrepresentationsweremadein uniform written

communicationsregardingtheopeningbalances.

The relief soughtby the claim is Plan-wide,in the form of reformation,injunctive relief

etc. Individual challengesto the Plan clearly could result in inconsistent and varying

adjudicationsof both the legality of the Planamendment,handlingof the openingbalancesand
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the impact of the written communicationsregardingthe opening balances.Additionally, an

adjudicationwith respectto any individual membersof the classwould substantiallyimpair or

impedethe ability of othermembersto protecttheir interests. Thus,the plaintiffs havemet the

requirementsfor class certification under Rule 23(b)(l). See Feret, supra,1998U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 12734,*44-45 (certifying, inter alia, claims for breachof fiduciary duty and failure to

providebenefitsunderERISA undereachof thetwo subpartsofRule23(b)(l».

(b) Rule23(b)(2)

Plaintiffs additionallyseekcertificationof the proposedfiduciary duty/openingbalance

class under Rule 23(b)(2), which states that certification is appropriatewhere "the party

opposingthe classhas actedor refusedto act on groundsgenerallyapplicableto the class,

thereby making appropriatefinal injunctive relief or correspondingdeclaratoryrelief with

respectto the classas a whole." Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2). Here,plaintiffs seeka reformation

striking the invalid plan amendmentand/orreforming the amendmentto comply with the law

and plan terms, injunctive relief and other appropriateequitablerelief. Duke's actionswith

respectto the planaregenerallyapplicableto the class,andif plaintiffs succeedin their attempt

to showthat Duke'sconductwith respectto the planamendmentandopeningbalancesviolated

ERISA andthetermsof theplan,theninjunctiveor declaratoryreliefwill beappropriate.

With regardto the CountVI claims,courtshaveheld that claims arising from allegedly

improperplanconversionsandseeking,asan elementof relief, planreformation,fall "squarely

within the purview of Rule 23(b)(2)." In re Citigroup PensionPlan ERISALitig., supra, 241

F.R.D.at 180;Amarav. CignaCorp., supra, 2008WL 2403772,at *7.

The relief soughtby the plaintiffs will benefitthe entire class. It is relief that is sought

becauseof singlecourseof actiontakenby the defendantswith regardto everymemberof that
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count'srespectiveclass. Thus, the plaintiffs havemet the requirementsfor classcertification

underRule23(b)(2).

III. CLASS NOTICE

Becauseat leastoneof theclasses(the interestrateclass)is properlycertifiedpursuantto

Rule23(b)(3), Rule23 requiresthatclassmembersbesentanoticewith theright to optout. The

other two classes,if certified pursuantto either Rule 23(b)(I) or (b)(2), do not requireopt out

rights or notice. Plaintiffs believethat, becausea notice is requiredfor oneclaim, it shouldbe

sentwith regardto each,thoughthe no opt-out natureof the whipsawclassand the Fiduciary

Duty/OpeningBalanceClassshouldbemaintainedasperthegoalsof Rules23(b)(I) and(b)(2).

IV. CONCLUSION

The purposeof the classaction mechanismis to "save ... the resourcesof both the

court and the parties by permitting an issuepotentially affecting every class memberto be

litigatedin aneconomicalfashionunderRule23." GeneralTelephoneCo., 457U.S. at 156.

The classaction device is the only equitableand sensibletool for managinglitigation

involving the overriding factual and legal issueswhich define this case. Plaintiffs andall class

memberssharea commoninterestin proofof theERISA andplanviolationsthatmustbemetto

warrantrecoveryand all sharea commoninterestin the fair and consistentresolutionof legal

issuesraisedby the claims assertedagainstDuke. In addition to its obvious inefficiency and

prohibitive cost, individualized litigation with respect to these claims would surely yield

inequitableandinconsistentresults.

For the foregoing reasons,this casefits within the generalrule that classtreatmentis

appropriatefor ERISA actionsinvolving challengesto pensionplan conversionsand whether

36

8:06-cv-00373-RBH       Date Filed 08/18/2008      Entry Number 221        Page 42 of 45



certaintypes of commonlyperformedbenefit calculationsare being done in violation of plan

terms.

Accordingly,theplaintiffs respectfullyrequestthatthis Court issueanorder:

I. Finding that the requirementsof Rule 23(a)andRule 23(b)(3) havebeen
satisfiedwith regardto the InterestRateClass;

2. Findingthat the requirementsof Rule 23(a)andRule 23(b)(I), (b)(2) and
(b)(3) havebeensatisfiedwith regardto theWhipsawClass;

3. Finding that the requirementsof Rule 23(a)andRule 23(b)(I) and (b)(2)
have beensatisfiedwith regardto the Fiduciary Duty/Opening Balance
Class;

4. Appointingthenamedplaintiffs asrepresentativesof theclassasfollows:

a. InterestRateClass: George,Bowen,Moyers,Miller, Matthews;
b. WhipsawClass: George,Bowen,Miller, Matthews;
c. Fiduciary Duty/OpeningBalanceClass: George,Bowen, Moyers,

Miller, Matthews.

5. Appointingtheundersignedcounselasclasscounsel;and

6. DirectingthatClassNoticebedisseminatedin anexpeditiousmanner.

Respectfullysubmitted,

By: /s/ CherylF. Perkins
Cheryl F. Perkins(Fed.J.D.No. 4969)
CharlesW. Whetstone,Jr. (Fed.J.D. No. 4604)
ThadL. Myers(Fed.J.D.No. 6260)
WhetstoneMyersPerkins& YoungLLC
601 DevineStreetin theVista (29201)
P.O.Box 8086
Columbia,SC29202
(803) 799-9400
(803) 799-2017(Fax)
cwhetstone@attomeyssc.com
cperkins@attomeyssc.com
tmyers@attorneyssc.com

JamesR. Gilreath(#2101)
William M. Hogan(#6141)
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THE GILREATH LAW FIRM, P.A.
110LaviniaAvenue(29601)
P.O.Box 2147
Greenville,SC 29602
(864)242-4727
(864)232-4395(Fax)
jim@gilreathlaw.com
bhogan@gilreathlaw.com

MonaLisaWallace(#7216)
JohnS. HughesAdmittedPro Hac Vice
Wallace& Graham,P.A.
525North Main Street
Salisbury,NC 28144
(704)633-5244
(704)633-9434(Fax)
mwallace@wallacegraham.com

Carl FrederickMuller (#3602)
AndrewB. Coburn
WallaceK. Lightsey(#1037)
WycheBurgessFreeman& Parham
P.O.Box 728
Greenville,SC29602
(864)242-8200
(864)242-8324(Fax)
cmuller@WVche.com
acoburn@wyche.com
wlightsey@WVche.com

Terry E. Richardson,Jr. (#3457)
Richardson,Patrick,Westbrook& Brickman
1730JacksonStreet
Barnwell,SC 29812
(803) 541-7850
(803) 541-9625(Fax)
trichardson@rpwb.com

AndrewHoyt Rowell, III (#3665)
T. ChristopherTuck (#9135)
RobertS. Wood(#7965)
Richardson,Patrick,Westbrook& Brickman
P. O. Box 1007
Mt. Pleasant,SC 29465
(843)727-6500
(843)216-6509(Fax)
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Greenville,SouthCarolina

August18,2008

hrowell@mwb.com
ctuck@mwb.com
bwood@mwb.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS
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